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‘I HAVE NO relief, but in action. I am become incapable of rest… Much better to die, doing,’1 the hyper-energetic, over-sexed, tormented, exultant, hilarious, despondent Charles Dickens had written to a friend, thirteen years before he actually died.


Dickens was good at dying. If you want a good death, go to the novels of Dickens. Watch the dwarfish swindler Mr Quilp on the run from the police, slithering into the muddy Thames. Watch Mr Merdle, the financier who cuts his own throat with a penknife in a Turkish bath. Look upwards to the rooftops and see the murderer Bill Sikes trying to make his escape from arrest by clambering over the tiles, missing his footing and hanging himself by accident. See, too, his dog, Bull’s Eye, leap to his master’s shoulder and fall, dashing his brains out on the stones below. There had been the poignant deaths – little Jo the Crossing Sweeper trying to repeat the, to him unknown, Lord’s Prayer; and heroic deaths – none more so than Sydney Carton, voluntarily approaching the guillotine and doing a far, far better thing than he had ever done before.


Sometimes Dickens may be said to have overdone the sob-stuff. Oscar Wilde quipped that it would take a heart of stone to read of the death of Little Nell without laughing. But the thing is, this isn’t true: for a start, in The Old Curiosity Shop the child is already dead when we find her lying in the schoolmaster’s house; her death happens offstage; and – as the thousands who gathered in New York harbour awaiting the latest instalment of the novel attested, with the anxious cry ‘Is Little Nell still alive?’2 – the scene where we find her dead body has astounding power, though sophisticated readers might be disturbed by the vulgarity of that power. Even if you question the story of the Americans shouting, agog on the quayside, for news of Little Nell, the fact remains that the novel was selling 100,000 copies per instalment as it appeared.3 The public reaction to Little Nell’s fate had revealed to Dickens that he possessed what no author in history had ever possessed to such a degree: a mesmeric power. Literature had never before, in the West, attracted the sort of crowds that had hitherto only been drawn to the revivalist meetings of John Wesley.


The poignant deaths were not the only ones at which he was adept, of course. There were grotesque deaths, such as the tall lady eating sandwiches who was decapitated by an unnoticed archway in Rochester; improbable deaths, such as Krook’s – by spontaneous combustion; deaths by judicial execution and by mob violence; deaths by accident; deaths, like that of Edwin Drood, in his final novel, unexplained, mysterious. And there is what must be one of the most wonderful deaths in literature – rivalled only by that of Falstaff as described by Mistress Quickly – the death of Barkis: ‘and it being low water, he went out with the tide’. [DC 30]


But now it was June 1870, and although he was only fifty-eight years old, Dickens was exhausted. His face was ravaged; it could have been the face of an octogenarian. He had been heavily dosing himself with laudanum (a mixture of opium and alcohol) for many months and was opium-dependent. The novel that he was in the middle of writing, The Mystery of Edwin Drood, begins with an opium-induced trance. It is the story of a man who drifts into different states of consciousness through the influence of the drug. It is the story of a divided self, a man who is a different person when leading his secret lives – lives hidden from the respectable cathedral town of Cloisterham, a fictionalized version of the same cathedral town, Rochester, that was a brisk hour’s walk from Dickens’s home at Gad’s Hill in Kent. For, ill as he was, Dickens, who all his life was a restless and prodigiously energetic walker, still forced his body into vigorous exercise, on those days when he was capable of it. Now, his heart was weak, his breath was uncertain. He had crammed many lifetimes into one – the lifetime of the most celebrated novelist in the world; the lifetime of a full-time journalist; the lifetime of an actor, and of a public reader; the lifetime of a philanthropist; the lifetime of a family man and of a secret lover. Now, having described and enacted so many deaths, he was going to do it for real.


Enacted, yes, for as well as his unrivalled presence in print, his fame as a writer, he never lost his desire to perform on the public stage. I want to write, in this chapter, about Dickens’s debt to the theatre, to burlesque, to pantomime, to the harlequinade, because it is central to his way of functioning as one of the greatest artistic geniuses of the nineteenth century. But although we know so little about the actress Nelly Ternan, she was part of this, obviously she was. So I also want to start with Nelly, and the theatre, before we go back and explore the other mysteries of Charles Dickens – the mystery of his childhood and his past; the mystery of his appalling cruelty to a harmless wife who bore him ten children; the mystery of his passionate, sincere and burning charity, his fury at injustice; the mystery of his relationship with the public, in the first era when there was a truly enormous public with whom to have such a relationship; and the mystery of his last, unfinished novel, The Mystery of Edwin Drood, in which he changed direction as an artist and explored the human consciousness in a way that anticipated the developments of psychology and literary modernism. And I want to maintain that Charles Dickens was a writer like no other, a sui generis figure, unique in the nineteenth century. It was the glory age of the English novel.4 In his infancy, Jane Austen was still at work, and Sir Walter Scott. His contemporaries included the Brontë sisters, George Eliot, Anthony Trollope, William Makepeace Thackeray. Dickens was fundamentally different from any one of them, for reasons that we shall explore. Although we call all their works ‘novels’, he was actually writing books that were quite different in kind from theirs, and it was perhaps only when one of his greatest admirers abroad, Fyodor Mikhailovich Dostoevsky, began to write, partially in homage to Dickens, that the world started to see the kind of novelist he had been. His stories were prodigiously popular, and continue to be so. Unlike so much prose fiction, however, they work on many levels, and it would be as true to describe them as great visionary poems, as fairy tales, as pantomimes, as it would be to talk of them as novels in the prosaic tradition in which, say, Trollope excelled.


This book is entitled The Mystery of Charles Dickens because, of all the great novelists, Dickens is the most mysterious. His way of going to work appears to be, on one level, so obvious, so basic: the comedy so crude, often – though, equally often, so hilarious; the pathos so heavily laid on with a trowel. But although he was a journalist, and one of the really great journalists, his novels were not journalistic, like those of Emile Zola. Zola was a camera. He depicted what was there. Dickens, like the illustrators chosen to adorn his early novels, created an alternative universe. He amused, or shamed, his readers into recognizing that this universe was uncommonly like their own, but his techniques were decidedly not those of a realist. He invented, rather, an alternative universe into which we are all drawn, persuaded that it is a real world, of a sort. Those who protest that the Dickensian world is unrealistic are so often forced to confront the pantomimic grotesquerie, the high comedy, the violence and the pathos of ‘real life’ and recognize that it is ‘just like Dickens’. This, however, is not to deny that, almost more than any great artist, he is the puppet-master who pulls the strings and writes the script.


We are now going to his house in Kent, Gad’s Hill Place, near Rochester, in June 1870 to watch Charles Dickens die. Before we reach Gad’s Hill, however, following a road that was trodden by so many before us, fictitious and semi-fictitious, aware of Chaucer’s pilgrims going down to Canterbury, of Falstaff, Bardolph and Poins making their night-foray as highwaymen, and of Mr Pickwick making his more innocent sortie towards Rochester, we are going to return in our mind to a death enacted by Dickens on the stage of the Free Trade Hall in Manchester, thirteen years before. As well as writing up a good death, he loved to act one, and the more the audience sobbed, the better. Thirteen years earlier, then, during the summer of 1857, he was acting in The Frozen Deep, a play written by his friend Wilkie Collins, loosely based on the doomed expedition, led by Sir John Franklin, to find the North-West Passage. Dickens, performing on the stage of the Free Trade Hall, had the satisfaction of having ‘a couple of thousand people all rigid and frozen together, in the palm of one’s hand’. He took particular satisfaction in seeing ‘the hardened carpenters at the sides [of the stage] crying and trembling at it night after night’.5


He took the part of Richard Wardour, and the actress in whose arms he died was Nelly’s sister, ‘Miss Maria Ternan – born on the stage, and inured to it from the days when she was the little child’.6 Dickens wrote Nicholas Nickleby before Maria Ternan was even born, but her mother, who had herself been on the stage since childhood, could have echoed the ham actor-manager Mr Vincent Crummles who engages Nicholas Nickleby in his troupe: ‘I am in the theatrical profession myself, my wife is in the theatrical profession, my children are in the theatrical profession. I had a dog that lived and died in it from a puppy, and my chaise-pony goes on in Timour the Tartar.’ [NN 22] Mrs Ternan, a widow, came from a family who had followed the theatrical profession since the eighteenth century.


Continuing to describe Maria’s thespian gifts, on display in Manchester, Dickens explained, ‘She had to take my head up as I was dying, and to put it in her lap, and give me her face to hold between my two hands. All of which I showed her elaborately… that morning. When we came to that point at night, her tears fell down my face, down my beard (excuse my mentioning that hateful appendage), down my ragged dress – poured all over me like rain, so that it was as much as I could do to speak for them.’7


Maria Ternan had been a true Infant Phenomenon. In fact she was twenty by now, but she looked much younger. Dickens always liked child-women, little fairies who were betwixt and between, like Little Dorrit or the Marchioness, neither children nor adults. When Mark Lemon, editor of Punch, took Maria backstage after the performance, her weeping set him off. Soon they were all crying, and she had to be comforted by her mother and sister, while Dickens gave her sherry. So much for little Maria. Her elder sister Fanny, who would one day marry the brother of the novelist Anthony Trollope and become a popular novelist herself (author of Aunt Margaret’s Trouble, That Unfortunate Marriage and others), really had been an infant prodigy, playing Mamilius in The Winter’s Tale when she was only three and a half in 1840.8 All three of the Ternan sisters, like their mother, pursued careers on the stage throughout their childhoods. The summer before they took on the roles in The Frozen Deep, Fanny had appeared as Oberon in Edmund Kean’s lavish production of A Midsummer Night’s Dream (in which a ten-year-old Ellen Terry played Puck). Nelly, meanwhile, had been on the stage of the Haymarket Theatre, playing a ‘breeches’ role – in a show called Atalanta. Her part was that of Hippomenes, throwing golden apples in front of the speedy Atalanta to stop her running so fast. It had run every night from April to July 1857, and Nelly had not missed a single performance.


Of the three Ternan girls, it was Nelly – eighteen, the youngest, slightly plump, blonde curls, large blue eyes and, again, the way he liked them, small – who arrested Dickens’s attention in that Manchester show some months later.


Even by Dickens’s hyper-energetic standards, 1857 had been a phenomenal year. He was deeply involved in running a refuge for women and trying to rehabilitate them, after rocky starts, and prepare them for married life. He was finishing one of his very greatest novels, Little Dorrit. He was embarking on a series of public readings from his work. He had a seemingly ceaseless series of charitable dinners at which he was required to make the speech. He was the editor of the weekly Household Words. At home, his unhappy marriage seemed to be causing him and his wife Catherine untold strain and misery, and there are few human experiences more exhausting than living with a partner to whom one is unhappily yoked. ‘There can be no disparity in marriage like unsuitability of mind and purpose,’ [DC 45] a manifesto-mantra repeated four times by David Copperfield (twice midway through Chapter 45, once at the end of that chapter and again in Chapter 48).


After The Frozen Deep in Manchester, however, he was a changed man. He wrote to Collins seven months later, in March 1858, ‘I have never known a moment’s peace or content since the last night of The Frozen Deep. I do suppose that there never was a Man so seized and rended by one Spirit.’9


It was perhaps inevitable that the crisis of his life – the before-and-after experience – should have happened onstage, and that the woman in his life, for its last decade, should have been an actress. Equally inevitable, for Dickens was a divided self whose art depended upon the divisions in his personality, was the fact that Nelly Ternan should become, not his wife, but his secret. When they met he was forty-five and she was eighteen. She was with him to the end, and very nearly at the end, when, thirteen years later, he died in reality. Her relationship with him lasted thirteen creative, energetic, secret years; years in which she was better qualified than most to contemplate the Mystery of Charles Dickens. She did so offstage, away from the lights. As far as the world was concerned, Nelly did not exist. She was unknown to Dickens’s devoted public. She was largely unknown to posterity. And when, during the early decades of the twentieth century, rumours of her existence began to emerge, many of his dedicated readers refused to believe in her existence. Even one of the finest late-twentieth-century Dickensian biographers, Peter Ackroyd, claimed it was unthinkable that Dickens and Nelly could have been lovers, as they obviously were.


So in this exploration into the Mystery of Charles Dickens, we begin with the secret Muse, with Nelly, and we return to the bright June day in 1870 when she saw him fully alive for the last time.
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He would die on 9 June. On Tuesday 7 June 1870, Charles Dickens was hard at work, in his house at Gad’s Hill, writing the next episode of his serial novel The Mystery of Edwin Drood. He wrote to Luke Fildes, the young artist who was illustrating the story, telling him that he would be at Gad’s Hill from Saturday 11 June onwards. That was to indicate, at the least, that he would be away from home for three days. The next day, on Wednesday 8 June, he breakfasted early, at 7.30 a.m. One of the maids in the house was to be married that day, but Dickens was not intending to be present at the ceremony. He wrote a few other letters, indicating that on the following day, Thursday, he would be in London. He looked in at the Falstaff Inn opposite his house, to cash a cheque for £22 from the landlord, Mr Trood, whose name surely half suggested that of the hero, or anti-hero, of his current fiction.


Dickens never reached London that Thursday. It was the day on which he was destined to die. His scrupulous sister-in-law Georgina, who had kept house for him ever since he separated from her sister Kate, wrote to the solicitor, Frederic Ouvry, on 9 June to relate that she had been through her brother-in-law’s pockets after his collapse from a stroke, and found six pounds, six shillings and threepence. In other words, on the previous day he had spent fifteen pounds, thirteen shillings and ninepence. Where had it gone?


The person who emerged from the Falstaff Inn, with £22 in his pocket, on the morning of the 8th was a small, trim, punctiliously neat, whiskery figure who would have been instantly recognized in almost any of the great cities of the world. He was a celebrity. The most famous novelist, but also one of the most famous human beings, alive. The fact that Dickens did not wish the world to know he had a mistress necessitated a life of constant subterfuge and deception, which had been the pattern of his existence for the previous thirteen years. Nelly Ternan could not live with him openly at Gad’s Hill. If she had kept rooms in the middle of London, likewise the secret would have been out immediately. He had bought her a house, in 1860, at Ampthill Square, near Mornington Crescent, on the edges of Camden Town. It became the family house of the Ternans, and it was not a place where Dickens could visit Nelly as a lover. It was technically bought by her mother and sisters, but Nelly afterwards admitted that Dickens had bought it himself. She herself had lived a twilit existence, in rented accommodation in France and England. When in England, she had lived in obscure places, villages turning into suburbs, such as Slough – easily reachable from London, but essentially dingy and out of the way; and now the village of Peckham in South London, still a village surrounded by trees and fields, but one that was fast being swallowed up by new jerry-built houses, quickly reachable by railway from the capital. The land of small farms and labourers was giving place to the mean dwellings of obscure clerks and shopkeepers, though the row of villas in which Nelly resided, built on spec because Peckham now had a railway station connecting it with ease to London and the Channel ports, was constructed for respectable professional people.


Dickens, for his own convenience, had moved Nelly (and her mother) from Slough to Peckham, whose new-built station, which connected with his own station of Higham in Kent, enabled him to reach her within less than an hour. They gambled on the fact that there was no one likely to encounter them in Peckham, but it was a risk.


On the morning in question – and if that sounds like the beginning of police evidence in court, how pleased Dickens would be, for if there was anything he liked more than the theatre, it was criminal courts, and if there was a profession that delighted him more than the theatrical profession, it was the police! – he had cashed the cheque, and with the £22 in his pocket he had left for Higham Station. ‘It’s a singler story, sir,’ as Inspector Wield says to him in his marvellous ‘Three “Detective” Anecdotes’.10


He was making his by now habitual journey, by cab and train and cab, to Windsor Lodge, Nelly’s house in Peckham. He did it most weeks. He paid her housekeeping money – which would account for the substantial sum of more than £15 missing from his pockets. Some time after this, he collapsed. One does not need to speculate on what brought on his seizure; clearly Dickens, the father of ten (nine living), was a highly sexed man who brought to the life of love the same exuberant hyper-energy that he also brought to love of life: to acting, writing, walking, charitable work and entertaining.


With the help of two maids, the resourceful Nelly Ternan – and her later life shows her to have been highly resourceful – had to act quickly. One maid was dispatched to the post office, to send a telegram to her friend, Georgina Hogarth, Dickens’s sister-in-law at Gad’s Hill Place, telling her to expect him back and to have a doctor on hand. She then engaged the help of the caretaker of the church opposite Windsor Lodge, and a hackney-cab driver, to heave the semi-conscious body into a large two-horse brougham. Though Dickens was a small man, inert bodies can appear to double in weight.


What happened after that is not quite clear. Nelly and Dickens, in the two-horse carriage, accomplished the journey of some twenty-four miles in the hot afternoon. They entered a house where the smell of cooking permeated. Dinner was being prepared. The next thing we know is that the famous novelist was lying on the dining-room floor, semi-conscious. A doctor had been sent for, and Georgina, his devoted sister-in-law and housekeeper, was kneeling by his side. Exit Nelly, stage left. She respectably departed, though she would come back the next day, when his family had assembled to watch him die. Two accounts state that she was in the room, with the children and Georgina, when Dickens died at ten past six on the evening of Thursday 9 June 1870. She had waited with them as the breath faded, as the awe-inspiring uncertainty of whether he was dead or alive continued.




Stay! Did that eyelid tremble?…


No.


Did that nostril twitch?


No…


See! A token of life! An indubitable token of life! The spark may smoulder and go out, or it may glow and expand, but see!… Neither Riderhood in this world, nor Riderhood in the other, could draw tears… but a striving human soul between the two can do it easily. [OMF III 3]





There would be many tears for Dickens, as there had been in his fictitious and dramatic renditions of death, but I quote that passage from Our Mutual Friend not because he was like Rogue Riderhood in the smallest degree; rather, that he had been to that No Man’s Land with the dying, and described what, for so many, is the most poignant part of witnessing the deathbed experience. And the day of his death altogether possessed that betwixt-and-between quality. Indeed, it may well be that the account just given of the circumstances of that death – the journey to Peckham with £15 in his pocket, and the seizure – did not in fact take place. We’ll approach this aspect of the mystery later. What we do know is that, when he died on 9 June in the dining room at Gad’s (as it was so often known in the Dickens family), Nelly was there. And we know that fifteen pounds, thirteen shillings and ninepence could not, by the punctilious Georgina, be accounted for.


There had been every reason why those who cared for Dickens’s reputation with the public – and that emphatically included his mistress Nelly Ternan, his sister-in-law Georgina and Dickens himself – should wish to create a death which, if not entirely fictitious, was at least a good deal more respectable than the one we just sketched out. That Dickens, the greatest English novelist, and celebrant of family innocence, should have collapsed in the bosom of his mistress in Peckham was not to be countenanced. Nelly was perpetually troubled by the possibility of disgrace. She was a ‘respectable’ person, and she hated the idea of their relationship being known or acknowledged.11 The great man must die instead at Gad’s Hill in the bosom of his family.


Nelly certainly shared Dickens’s wish that their relationship should remain a secret. Unlike Dickens’s raffish friend Wilkie Collins, who lived openly with his mistress, and unlike George Eliot (Mary Ann Evans), who lived with her lover George Lewes as if she were his wife, Dickens was a ‘respectable’ man, and Nelly, although – no, because of – belonging to the theatrical profession, regarded herself as a respectable young woman. They had both had to struggle for their respectability. For many Victorians the acting profession was little better than the low world of the demi-monde. For the Dickens family, respectability was something that had had to be invented for themselves, and however much they clung to it, it had kept blowing away from them, like a flimsy umbrella lost in a gale. Dickens’s persistent claim to be a gentleman, a claim on which he had implausibly insisted since childhood, was the first of his great fictions. The English never escape their class. It is one of Dickens’s great themes. Social insecurity underpins his comedy and his tragedy, and much of his social life. The great rift with Thackeray, for example, was in part caused by the knowledge that Thackeray was a gentleman and Dickens was only a pretend gentleman, admitted to clubs, for example, because he was a genius, not because his father could ever have been on terms with his fellow clubmen’s fathers. With the ambivalences of theatre folk, whose people were professionally involved in pretence, he could feel safe.
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Five years before, in June 1865, Nelly Ternan had been travelling with Dickens and her mother in a first-class railway carriage, coming back from France. Dickens had made no fewer than four visits to France to see her that spring, almost certainly because Nelly had gone abroad to give birth to a child. Claire Tomalin, who collected so much of the evidence for Nelly’s life with the novelist, shows it was possible that she had two children by Dickens. Gladys Storey, whose book Dickens and Daughter is about the author’s friendship with Dickens’s daughter Katey, states categorically that Nelly had a child, ‘a son, who died in infancy’. Storey left a note to say that Dickens’s daughter told her in February 1923 that a child had been born. And Madeline House, who spent long periods of conversation with Gladys Storey, left it on record that ‘I am convinced that Mrs T[ernan] was with Ellen at the time of the baby’s birth.’12


Storey, House and Tomalin all assume that Katey was correct in stating that the baby (or babies) died; and yet, as Tomalin wrote, one of the factors that has made people doubt the story is the non-existence of any death certificates, especially for the second supposed baby, born in Slough. There could be an obvious explanation for this. That is, that the baby (or babies) did not in fact die, but was given up for adoption. Nelly went on to have two healthy children, in her later, respectable existence as a clergyman’s wife. Why should it be assumed that Dickens’s babies died? Of his own ten known children, although his wife had some miscarriages, only one of the babies who lived to full term died in infancy, a very low statistic by nineteenth-century standards. Neither Nelly nor Dickens had a medical history of parenting weak children.


The month following the supposed birth of a child in France, accompanied by her mother, Nelly was coming back to England with Dickens in June 1865. The public face of their relationship, in so far as it had a public face at all, was that Dickens was a sort of uncle or godfather figure in her life. The train journey was to make clear to Nelly how completely determined Dickens was to protect his reputation and keep their relationship a secret.


As the train hurtled towards Staplehurst in Kent, it hit a bridge, slithered off the track and fell into the river below. The first-class carriage was at the front, so that although the three of them feared the worst, their lives were spared. They were hurled across the carriage. Nelly, fearing they were about to die, said to her mother and Dickens, ‘Let us join hands and die friends’, a remark that suggests that there had been an estrangement of some kind.


The evident ruction that the words imply gives the lie to Claire Tomalin’s notion that Nelly’s baby died in France. If the young woman had just lost a baby through death, her mother and Dickens would surely have been solicitous with a woman in grief. ‘Let us join hands and die friends’ suggests that Nelly had been angry with Dickens – justifiably angry – and is not the likeliest explanation for such anger that she had been forced, for the sake of appearances, to give away her baby for adoption?


They had to be helped out of the carriage through a window. Nelly’s arm and neck were injured and she was frail for weeks afterwards, and Dickens would send his manservant, John, to ‘take Miss Ellen’ tempting foods: a cold chicken, clotted cream and fruit. Aware of his public, and knowing that it would be impossible to conceal the fact that he had been aboard the train that crashed, he left Mrs Ternan and Nelly to be cared for by the paramedics while he went to offer succour to the second-class passengers. ‘I was in the carriage that did not go over, but went off the line, and hung over the bridge in an inexplicable manner. No words can describe the scene,’ he would write.13 Even more revealing (of his character, but unrevealing of the facts of the case) was his preface to Our Mutual Friend, the novel he was writing at the time of the accident, the manuscript of which he had in his luggage.




On Friday the ninth of June in the present year Mr and Mrs Boffin (in their manuscript dress of receiving Mr and Mrs Lammle at breakfast) were on the South-Eastern Railway with me, in a terribly destructive accident. When I had done what I could to help others, I climbed back into my carriage – nearly turned over a viaduct, and caught aslant upon the turn – to extricate the worthy couple. They were much soiled, but otherwise unhurt. The same happy result attended Miss Bella Wilfer on her wedding-day and Mr Riderhood inspecting Bradley Headstone’s red neckerchief as he lay asleep. I remember with devout thankfulness that I can never be much nearer parting company with my readers for ever, than I was then, until there shall be written against my life the two words with which I have this day closed this book – THE END.14





Clearly, Dickens was not going to share with his devoted public the knowledge that, at the time of the Staplehurst railway crash, he had been travelling with a much younger mistress who had borne his child. Nevertheless, given that this was what he had been doing – he was certainly with Nelly, whatever truth there is in the story of her having had his babies – there is something more than arch about his speaking about the characters in Our Mutual Friend as having been ‘on the South-Eastern Railway with me’. It is by no means clear, in the life of a novelist, who are the more ‘real’: the imagined characters in the books or those who share the supposedly real life of the writer. As we shall discover, the fictions of Dickens, which came from so deep a part of himself, were also capable of swallowing him up, so that in a sense he was absorbed into them. The majority of us have a life that ends in death; Dickens was living a story, whose conclusion was – to quote again from that preface to Our Mutual Friend – ‘the two words with which I have this day closed this book – THE END’.
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After Dickens died, Nelly went to live in Oxford with her mother and sisters, in a house on the Banbury Road just south of the present-day St Hugh’s College, where for seven years I used to teach. (Maria the Infant Phenomenon had married an Oxford brewer.)


I often used to think of the Ternans as I cycled past the villa in the late 1970s. The fantasy question would flit in and out of my brain: what would it have been like to teach Nelly? She was the same age, wasn’t she, when she lived in that house as the undergraduates with whom I was about to read medieval poetry. Would I have fallen secretly in love with her, as Dickens did, or would she have been one of the pleasant, hard-working majority whose names and personalities one forgot the next year when a new batch of students arrived, clutching Sweet’s Anglo-Saxon Primer?… Nelly at eighteen. But no! She was not, of course, the age of most of my students. Brilliant, loveable Nelly! She had cunningly changed and concealed her age. In The Life of Charles Dickens by John Forster, the Will of Charles Dickens is printed as an appendix. After revoking all former wills and codicils and declaring this to be his last Will and Testament, Dickens, with a candour and bravura that had been lacking in life, began: ‘I give the sum of £1,000 free of legacy duty to Miss Ellen Lawless Ternan, late of Houghton Place, Ampthill Square, in the county of Middlesex.’


With an inventiveness to match his own, Nelly, who was by now more than thirty, decided to chop a decade or so off her age. Six years later she would marry one of the undergraduates who had visited her mother’s house in Oxford, George Wharton Robinson, who had by then become a clergyman. He was twelve years younger than she was, so he had only been eighteen or so when he met the thirty-year-old Nelly. By the time of the 1881 census, she had reduced her age still further, declaring herself to be twenty-eight, when in fact she was forty-two. By now the respectable wife of a clerical schoolmaster, she had left behind the invisible Nelly of Windsor Lodge, Peckham – a figure of the 1860s. Those years had been discarded like a novel, unopened for years. As the years rolled by, she grew ever younger and more respectable.


They had been married, she and Mr Robinson, at St Mary Abbots Church in Kensington. White-clad, virginal Nelly, with flowers in her hair, was by now thirty-seven to her husband’s twenty-three. They honeymooned in Italy, and returned to England to run a school in Margate. They had two children, Geoffrey, born in 1879, and Gladys, born in 1884. Nelly helped her husband to run the school, organizing concerts and plays and reading aloud from her favourite novels: David Copperfield, The Old Curiosity Shop, A Tale of Two Cities, Nicholas Nickleby, Bleak House. She retained her friendships with Georgina Hogarth and Dickens’s eldest daughter Mary (Mamie), neither of whom betrayed the secret of her true age. In 1877 Georgina came to have a holiday in Margate and presented the prizes at the school run by Mr Robinson, and in 1882 she had a holiday with Nelly and Mamie.


Nelly Robinson was widowed in 1910 and lived until April 1914, nursed by her son Geoffrey, who subsequently fought a gallant war and remained in the army until 1920, fighting in Persia with Dunsterforce. It was only after her death, going through his mother’s papers, that he began to piece together the truth. He was horrified by what he discovered and destroyed as many of his mother’s letters and papers as he could find. He lived until 1959.
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A generation ago, John Lucas wrote a book called The Melancholy Man: A Study of Dickens’s Novels. He took his title from Immanuel Kant, who defined a Melancholy Man as one who:




is little concerned with the judgements of others, with their opinion of what is good or true; he relies purely on his own insight… He regards changes of fashion with indifference and their glitter with contempt… He has a lofty sense of the dignity of human nature. He esteems himself and regards man as a creature deserving of respect. He suffers no abject subservience and breathes the noble air of freedom. To him all chains are abhorrent, from the gilded fetters worn at court to the heavy irons of the galley slave.





Lucas’s study of the novels was deserving of its status as one of the most perceptive of its time. The notion of Dickens, however, as a man who was not concerned with the judgements of others is not borne out by what we know. In particular in relation to his marriage and his sexual and romantic life, he was intensely occupied not merely with concealment, which is perfectly understandable, but with subterfuge and falsification.


It is easy to mock the desire to be respectable, just as it is easy to label as hypocrites those who wish to keep up appearances. It would be less easy to have been born near the bottom of the heap in the cruel nineteenth century. Charles and Nelly had both gazed into the abyss. The fates of their two fathers could never be forgotten.


Thomas Ternan, one of nineteen children, was the son of a Dublin grocer. Thomas became an actor in England. Even had he aspired, in his dreams, to enter one of the professions, that would have been impossible. He was a Catholic, and in those days the Inns of Court and the universities were reserved for members of the Established Church. A lot of actors, in those Penal Times, were Catholics, from the great Mrs Siddons and her Kemble brothers downwards. Thomas Ternan came to England, joined a troupe of actors in Kent on the Rochester circuit and married a fellow actor, Fanny Jarman, who also came from an Irish theatrical tradition. She was a cut above him, socially and in skill, having played Desdemona to Edmund Kean’s Othello, Ophelia to Charles Kemble’s Hamlet and having been in her way a minor star. But both Nelly’s parents had known the kind of rough-and-tumble life on the road, which we find in the life of Codlin and Short in The Old Curiosity Shop, in the Crummles troupe in Nickleby and in Jingle, the strolling player in Pickwick.


Dickens responded to all this so strongly because, although his parents had not been actors, it was the profession he had always dreamed of following. Pretending to be someone else for a living, being constantly on the road, belonging nowhere – these were all activities he had pursued faute de mieux. Thomas Ternan had become an actor-manager in the North of England, with many periods of separation from his wife: that was what the profession demanded – demands – of those who follow it. The family united in Newcastle upon Tyne for the Christmas of 1844. That was the season Maria played Mamilius in The Winter’s Tale and Fanny performed a duet with her in a melodrama. Shortly thereafter, however, their father became severely ill. The next that was heard of him, he was in London and had been taken to the asylum at Bethnal Green, suffering from ‘General Paralysis of the Insane’. He would almost certainly have been kept in chains until, incontinent and skinny, he was too weak to require constraint. He would have been locked up and simply left to die.15 Which he did when Nelly was only six.


John Dickens, the novelist’s father, likewise spent a crucial period locked up – during a (or, rather, the) crucial period of Charles Dickens’s childhood. We shall investigate all this in the next chapter. Suffice to say here that Charles, like Nelly, had a father who had fallen foul of the nineteenth century in all its monstrous pitilessness. He had been locked up in consequence. Of course, for the Victorians it was a crime to be a thief or a murderer; but also for the Victorians, who bought thousands of copies of Samuel Smiles’s Self-Help and who believed that they were an Island Empire that had pulled itself up by its own boot-straps, the worst crime was to be a failure. It was the century that reversed the Sermon on the Mount. Cursed were the meek. Cursed were the poor in spirit. Cursed were the merciful.


The respectable professions from which circumstance excluded the parents of Charles and of Nelly were instruments of monstrous cruelty. Dickens’s novels dwell repeatedly on the grotesque blundering unkindness of the law. All Victorians knew about it. The other great profession, that of medicine, was something even more to be dreaded. In 1851, when, as usual, Charles Dickens was doing twenty different things at once – tending a sick wife in Malvern (she was suffering from giddiness, occasional loss of eyesight and serious depression, none of which was cured by the quack-water cure recommended by the doctors), preparing a play, Not So Bad As We Seem, which Queen Victoria had expressed the desire to see, and editing his weekly Household Words – he heard the news that his father was grievously ill. John Dickens was then in his mid-sixties. Ever since he was a young man he had suffered from a urinary complaint, which he had never sufficiently addressed, still less (spendthrift that he was) been in a position to cure. Charles Dickens had rushed back to London from Malvern to make the speech at the annual dinner of the General Theatrical Fund in Covent Garden, a charity devoted to indigent actors. At the same time, in his own house in Devonshire Terrace, Regent’s Park, he had a dying baby – little Dora. In one week he would lose his youngest child and the father who begat him.


When Dickens arrived at Keppel Street in Bloomsbury (just behind the British Museum) it was to see his father, who was in delirious agony.


The doctor was summoned, ‘who instantly performed (without chloroform) the most terrible operation known in surgery, as the only chance of saving him’. This involved cutting a vagina-like incision between the anus and the scrotum and unsexing the patient. ‘He bore it’, wrote Dickens, ‘with astonishing fortitude, and I saw him directly afterwards – in his room, a slaughterhouse of blood.’16 A few days later, when Dickens visited at eleven o’clock at night and sat beside the unconscious figure, ‘he died – O so quietly’.17


His mother’s presence at this scene is scarcely mentioned. Nor is the fact that, present at the death, were Dickens’s two brothers Alfred and Augustus, his sister Letitia and her husband Henry Austin. When John Dickens died, Charles did take his mother in his arms and weep, but by the time he described the scene to his biographer, it was a duet, of him and his father alone.18 For Dickens, it was not the tragedy of a woman losing her husband, or of a family of siblings losing their father. It was the tragedy of severance from a ‘zealous, useful and cheerful spirit’, as his Micawber-father had become. Dickens had been deeply affected – and, in the middle of so much business, he had visited his father in his affliction. When his mother finally died in 1863, he had not visited her for months.


Dickens’s complex relationships with his mother and father were the seedbed of all his art. As far as his relationship with John Dickens is concerned, we watch a huge shift in the artistic problems that Charles was addressing and solving as his imagination came to terms with life-experience.
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Dickens did not blame his father for the childhood traumas. It was the mother who bore all the weight of that cruel story. John Dickens remained, for the novelist, the jolly, jokey figure with whom, in early childhood, Charles had enjoyed ramblings in the marsh country along the Medway, and who, in the squalid London houses where they lodged, and from whose rent-collectors they flitted, kept him amused with recitations, imitations and jokes. The two great creations to emerge from the Charles–John Dickens dynamic were Micawber and Dorrit. In David Copperfield, the alternative-autobiography composed while John Dickens was still alive, Dickens made his father a figure of benign burlesque. Mr Micawber is the Clown of the old harlequinade. In the original pantomimes, Clown was the speaking part in what was often a mime show and, like all the Dickensian figures who correspond to Clown, Micawber is gifted with the exhilarating power of utterance – ‘“Now, welcome poverty!” cried Mr Micawber, shedding tears. “Welcome misery, welcome houselessness, welcome hunger, rags, tempest, and beggary! Mutual confidence will sustain us to the end!”’ [DC 52] Just as Micawber changes his character entirely and becomes a successful farmer and administrator in Australia, so John Dickens after his death – he who had been so conspicuously inept as a clerk and so undistinguished as a hack journalist – was saluted by his son as ‘one of the most efficient and respected members of the Press’.19


Pantomime, more than serious drama, was the template for Dickens’s fiction in the earlier half of his writing life. How an audience responds to comedy and pantomime was central to Dickens’s life-view. Grimaldi the Clown, whom John Dickens took his children to see, and whose biography Charles Dickens reworked after writing Pickwick, was one of the greatest exponents of the commedia dell’arte.


Behind the traditional Christmas pantomime may be seen, even in the debased form in which it is performed in Britain today, a dramatic archetype which offers much the same katharsis that Aristotle sought in Tragedy. The inadequacy of the parents; the frustration of the young lovers; the poverty of the unsympathetic father, and his attempt to force the heroine to marry money against her will; the machinations of the Yellow Dwarf or the Demon King; while the transvestite Dame or Widow Twanky or Mother Goose projects, and redeems, the eternal dread of Mother. In these garish projections, the audience confronts comic versions of their own fears and griefs – the impossibility of finding domestic happiness in the place where we are programmed to seek it: in the family; the emotional frustrations and financial anxieties of life. It is a world, of course, where misfortune, rather than being something to weep over, is of necessity projected as comic.


Dickens himself, both in his definitive and revealing essay ‘The Pantomime of Life’, and in a later article for Household Words called ‘A Curious Dance Round a Curious Tree’, made the point trenchantly – that pantomime was a world:




where a man may tumble into the broken ice, or dive into the kitchen fire, and only be the droller for the accident; where babies may be knocked about and sat upon, or choked with gravy spoons, in the process of feeding, and yet no Coroner be wanted, nor anybody made uncomfortable; where workmen may fall from the top of a house to the bottom, or even from the bottom of a house to the top, and sustain no injury to the brain, need no hospital, leave no young children; where every one, in short, is so superior to all the accidents of life, though encountering them at every turn, that I suspect this to be the secret (though many persons may not present it to themselves) of the general enjoyment which an audience of vulnerable spectators, liable to pain and sorrow, find in this class of entertainment.20





In the great English tragic tradition of the Elizabethan stage, the Clown had his finest manifestation in King Lear, the ultimate drama of fathers and children, in which the mad Lear, on the Heath, gathers around him the alternative family, consisting of Edgar disguised as a crazy beggar man, Poor Tom, the loyal Kent and Fool. Most of us, when we first read or see King Lear, realize that we have seen the story acted out before – at Christmas, with Cinderella and her Ugly Sisters foreshadowing Cordelia, Goneril and Regan. In the alternative fairy-tale universe of the panto, the inadequate parent – the Lear-like character – is usually a relatively minor figure, Baron Hard-up, as it were, in Cinderella, whereas the Clown could sometimes be the dominant figure. This was especially true, in the old harlequinade, if Clown were played by a great figure such as Joseph Grimaldi – later in the century by Dan Leno and in the twentieth century Charlie Chaplin, the conscious heir of this tradition, who carried it into motion pictures.


In David Copperfield, Dickens’s own favourite among the novels, he recast his own autobiography as a harlequinade. When the Brothers Grimm, whose collection of German fairy stories was published in the year of Dickens’s birth, began their researches, they were appalled to discover how many of the folktales related to incest, or to parents in one way or another neglecting, brutalizing or mismanaging their children; so in the published version, the wicked mothers were converted into wicked stepmothers. When he came to write Copperfield, one of the central pantomime/fairy-tale themes – that of faulty parents betraying, through weakness or wickedness, their children – was neutralized by making David Copperfield pretty quickly into an orphan. His father is dead before the story starts, and once she has married Murdstone, David’s mother has no further role to play and can be allowed conveniently to die. The real John Dickens, whose misfortunes caused the infant Charles so much torment, was transmogrified kindly into a benign father-substitute, a Pantaloon Clown in the figure of Micawber.


After the death of John Dickens in 1851, these burlesque examples no longer worked, for Dickens, as a template for experience. The Micawbers undergo the same horrors that the Dickenses underwent, but they are ‘only the droller for the accident’. After he had been ripped by the surgeon and his bedroom had become ‘a slaughterhouse of blood’, John Dickens could no longer be the clownish Micawber. His life could not be milked for comedy; but then again, nor need his feelings be spared. He could never again read his son’s novels and see burlesque versions of himself, pantomimic enactments of his own humiliating inability to cope with life. So a new layer of truth could be unpeeled. In the novel that Charles Dickens was writing in the year before he met Nelly Ternan – Little Dorrit – the gloves were off. The full ghastliness of his parents’ improvidence, and its consequences – the Marshalsea Prison and abject humiliation – were able to be examined with a cold eye.


If, in his depiction of Mr Dorrit in the Marshalsea, Dickens penetrated a much deeper place than when he had created Mr Micawber, how much more does that novel reveal about the depth of his mother-hatred. In that dark, joyless room of Mrs Clennam – mother of the hero – something extraordinary is going on. It is like the drug-like fantasy world entered by sadomasochists who implore women to enchain them, whip and torture them. It is not, of course, a rational request. It comes from the deepest needs of mother-hate. From this stems the legend of Medusa who turns men to stone, of Circe turning them to pigs. Flintwinch, the horrible old family retainer, is not Mrs Clennam’s son, so he can say to her, ‘I have been faithful to you, and useful to you, and I am attached to you. But I can’t consent, and I won’t consent, and I never did consent, and I never will consent to be lost in you. Swallow up everything else, and welcome. The peculiarity of my temper is, ma’am, that I won’t be swallowed up alive.’ [LD I 15] We are close here to thoughts of mother spiders that devour their young and bite off the genitalia of their male offspring; to Picasso’s innumerable representations of women with serrated mouths and genitalia-like lobster claws, who could not kiss or copulate with a man without mutilating him. These come to mind in Mrs Clennam’s dark room as we watch her toying with her morning tray of oysters and reading aloud from the more blood-curdling passages of the Scriptures.


In the expression of his own mother-hate, Dickens began with the fluttery, silly figure of Mrs Nickleby. In Little Dorrit, however, he reached the depths of the truth. And in 1857, when he had reached that truth, he realized that Arthur Clennam – that is, himself – needed a companion to rescue him from his mother. Kate Dickens was actually his wife, but having borne ten children, lost her looks and become a fat wretch of misery worn down by his bullying; she had taken the place, in his imaginative life, of the mother he could not forgive for her treatment of him in childhood. She had become a hate object. The only way of escape was to find a nymph-dream, a little girl-woman who could never turn out to be his mutilantabusive mother in disguise. A Little Dorrit. He needed Nelly, had invented her, even before he met her in Manchester during The Frozen Deep.




‘Do you happen to know, Mrs Clennam, where she lives?’


‘No.’


‘Would you, now, would you like to know?’


‘If I cared to know, I should know already.’ [LD I 15]





Mrs Clennam here deflects the questioners of the nineteenth century of whom she knew nothing, but whom her intelligence can intuitively sense lurking in the shadows, waiting, like Jeremiah Flintwinch, to pounce. Herr Marx is waiting to tell her that her accumulation of wealth is ill-gotten gains, and Herr Doktor Freud is trying to tell her what she has done to Arthur. The point is only further emphasized when we realize that she is not, actually, Arthur’s mother at all. The two ‘truths’ that these powerful, intellectual German-speaking sages would so earnestly and so destructively profess to unearth – namely, that the whole capitalist dream was based on exploitation, and that at the heart of supposedly blissful family life there lay a core not of love, but of hate and power-games – these were things which, if Mrs Clennam cared to know, she should know already. How is life tolerable in such a society? By pursuing the art of ‘How Not to Do It’, and by taking the view that the misery of things is ‘Nobody’s Fault’. If these demons were unearthed and confronted, they would devour us, and so, like Flintwinch, we do not let them. Yet, as in Affery’s dreams, the novel tells us that one of these days the whole edifice – of respectability, and family structure, and capitalism – is going to come tumbling down. Dickens achieved few more brilliant things than Little Dorrit.


And the fact that he was writing Little Dorrit in the period immediately before the coup de foudre that was his encounter with Nelly says much. Panto or burlesque could no longer provide the consolations they had been offering since childhood. Dickens was never again going to be able to produce sunlit figures like Pickwick or Micawber. Even dramatics themselves were not going to be effective in holding reality at bay, or transforming it. When she became deeply involved with Dickens, Nelly herself would give up the stage. He, for his part, would continue to perform, but, more and more, in the solo role of himself, enacting scenes from the novels in his public readings. Yet, as we shall see, the more he involved himself in these enactments, and the more his later fiction darkened and enveloped him, the less clear it became whether they were his creation or whether he had become the prisoner of his own inventions.
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Amateur novelists, those who believe that everyone somehow has ‘a novel in them’, tend, when they write their one or two novels, to put down their own experiences, or what they artlessly believe to have been their experiences, and simply change the names of characters, making the figure who represents themselves rather more clever, attractive or adventurous than was the case in real life; or, for ironists, more accident-prone, more foolish and so on. Habitual novelists, however – especially those who take the novel to the height of an art-form – are in a very different situation. They might very often ‘use’ real life. Tolstoy’s Bald Hills is indistinguishable from the house where he grew up, and all the characters in the opening chapters of War and Peace were drawn directly from life, though as the novel progresses, this was less and less the case and they developed that mysterious ‘life of their own’ which seems to be the alchemical effect of all great imagination.


Tolstoy, however, came to hate the art of fiction, perhaps for the very simple reason that he could observe the process at work which we observe in, for example, Dickens. The habit of mind that allows a great imagination to transform experience into a novel, the mimetic arts that it exercises, the processes of make-believe that it requires, are often stronger than the parts of the writer’s personality that are exercised in their everyday lives, their relationships with their families, and so forth. One of the most conspicuously hilarious examples of this was given in Evelyn Waugh’s The Ordeal of Gilbert Pinfold, in which the novelist, for the time being, driven insane by a mistaken admixture of a sleeping draught and copious quantities of alcohol, is imprisoned in his own creative self. He is a caricature. His face has become an irremovable carapace.


Dickens, as an actor and as a novelist, and as a man, was a man of masks, who probably never revealed himself to anyone; quite conceivably, he did not reveal himself to himself. As time went by, and in particular as he became caught up not merely in writing, but in performing his novels in public readings, he was, in effect, as much a fictional character as Bill Sikes or Mrs Gamp.


‘From these garish lights, I now vanish for evermore,’21 Dickens had said at what was to be his last public reading from his novels. In the nineteenth-century theatre the footlights were garish indeed, a row of smoking oil – later gas – lamps, melting the greasepaint of the players on the one side, half blinding those in the front rows of the audience on the other.


Dickens wanted to live on both sides of this garish, overheated row. He had grown up stage-struck. When he was seven, his mother and father took him up to London to see the Christmas pantomime, and he had been entranced by the make-up of the clowns, their thick white face-paint, and their appetite for sausages. Harlequin and Pantaloon held him in raptures, and he ‘thought that to marry a Columbine would be to attain the highest pitch of all human felicity!’22 A little later, a troupe of them had visited Chatham, where his improvident father was working as a naval clerk, and the child had stared with wonder at the little boys ‘with frills as white as they could be washed’,23 smelling of sawdust and orange peel, and accompanied by ‘a crafty magician holding a young lady in bondage’.24 Even after he had begun to enjoy great success as a writer, after the publication of Pickwick, and in the middle of writing Oliver Twist, Dickens, at a publisher’s request, took on the task of revising a clumsily written biography of the great clown Grimaldi,25 whom he had seen perform at the Theatre Royal, Chatham. Dickens, very appropriately, dictated his revisions to his father, out of charity – for John Dickens was everlastingly on the point of tumbling into debt. Dickens wrote to his friend John Forster, ‘Seventeen hundred Grimaldis have already been sold, and the demand increases daily!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!’26


In addition to pantomime and burlesque, Dickens had also seen mainstream, serious theatre as a child, and was among those lucky enough to have witnessed Edmund Kean and Charles Mathews’s interpretations of the great Shakespearean roles. As a schoolboy in London, and as an aspirant journalist, he devoted every available evening to attending the theatre. In those days only theatres with a licence could produce spoken drama, but there were many who added songs to the performance, and cobbled together ‘burlettas’. He also haunted ‘private theatres’ where amateurs performed. Mr Wopsle’s Hamlet was no fantasy. In Sketches by Boz, Dickens tells how ‘dirty boys, low copying-clerks, in attorney’s offices’ and ‘capacious-headed youths from city-counting-houses’ trod the boards under stage names – ‘Belville, Melville, Treville, Berkeley, Randolph, Byron, St Clair’. [SB 13, ‘Private Theatres’]


The fascination of being somebody else: that was what the theatre offered, whether you were a ‘low clerk’ pretending to be Macbeth or a professional actor such as Mr Vincent Crummles, or whether you were sitting in the audience night after night. It was only by the time of his marriage, when he needed the regular income which writing had begun to provide, that Dickens appears finally to have given up the hope of an actual career on the stage. And the desire to write, and perform in, plays never left him. In the year he was writing Pickwick, he was offered £30 for a farce in two acts called The Strange Gentleman, which was a stage adaptation of one of the Sketches by Boz called ‘The Great Winglebury Duel’. It was produced at St James’s Theatre. A year or so later he wrote The Lamplighter, which he hoped would be acted by William Macready, though nothing came of this. As soon as he found himself with surplus cash, having moved into 48 Doughty Street – just north of Gray’s Inn – with his wife and burgeoning family, Dickens had begun to donate to theatrical charities – the Theatrical Fund, the Artists’ Benevolent Fund and the Drury Lane Theatre Fund27 – and, of course, as well as writing for the theatre, attending the theatre and supporting the impoverished members of the acting profession, he was himself an enthusiastic actor.


However busy he was meeting deadlines as a novelist or a journalist, Dickens nearly always had some theatrical project on the go. In 1845, for example, he hired a private theatre in Dean Street, Soho, where Frances Kelly, a retired actress, ran a theatre school. Here he, his future biographer John Forster, Mark Lemon, the editor of Punch, and other friends enacted Ben Jonson’s Every Man in His Humour. Dickens commissioned the scene painting and oversaw the making of the costumes, which were based on seventeenth-century pictures. ‘I am half dead with managerial work – and with actual work in shirt sleeves; with a dirty face, a hammer and a bag of nails.’28 They assembled an impressive audience – Tennyson, the Duke of Devonshire, Count d’Orsay, Macready. Not everyone was impressed – Carlyle wrote of ‘poor little Dickens, all painted in black and red, and affecting the voice of a man of six feet’.29 But others were less scornful. One guest remembered, ‘He literally floated in braggadocio. His air of supreme conceit and frothy pomp in the earlier scenes came out with prodigious force in contrast with the subsequent humiliation.’30 (Dickens was playing Bobadil.)


Another production at Miss Kelly’s theatre was The Merry Wives of Windsor with George Lewes, Augustus Egg and George Cruikshank in the cast. (Carlyle was more impressed by this performance – ‘Plaudite, Plaudite!’) Queen Victoria and Prince Albert themselves saw Dickens’s benefit repeat performance of Every Man in His Humour. They also attended a performance of his own comedy Not So Bad as We Seem, some three weeks before the opening of the Great Exhibition in 1851.


By 1857, when the Dickens family were enduring a painfully long visit from Hans Christian Andersen, Dickens put on the play on which he had collaborated with Wilkie Collins, The Frozen Deep. When it was staged in London, it drew perhaps the most star-studded of all Dickens’s audiences, with the Duke of Somerset supplying hothouse flowers. The Queen not only enjoyed the melodrama, but also stayed behind to see the farce that was enacted after the interval, and sent to Dickens that she wanted to meet him. He declined, saying that he could not be presented to his sovereign in the costume of a farceur. She replied saying that the costume could not be ‘as ridiculous as that’, but he still declined.31


Such was the success of The Frozen Deep before privately invited audiences in London that it was decided to take it to a commercial theatre in the provinces. They took the Free Trade Hall in Manchester towards the end of August 1857, and had audiences of more than 3,000. Speaking of Dickens’s performance in Manchester, Wilkie Collins recorded, ‘The trite phrase is the true phrase to describe that magnificent piece of acting. He literally electrified the audience.’32 Dickens himself spoke of ‘rending the very heart out of my body’ as he enacted the main role.33


The move from an amateur to a professional stage had required an adjustment to the cast. His daughters Mamie and Katey, and the other female members of the cast, had to be replaced with professional actresses. Thus it came about that the Ternans entered Dickens’s life.
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It is impossible to say on which side of the garish lights the thunderclap took place, but this production of The Frozen Deep was to change Charles Dickens’s life. The melodrama of existence was to soar into a new act. ‘If you make believe very much, it’s quite nice,’ the Marchioness said to Dick Swiveller, telling him that if he put pieces of orange peel into cold water he could make-believe it was wine. [OCS 64] Make-believe becomes its own redemptive Marriage Feast at Cana.


Dickens had been, up to this point in his life, an artist without parallel in the history of literature, a modernistic novelist who took the novel into the direction of burlesque and pantomime. Like Ben Jonson (as formative a role model, really, for Dickens, as Shakespeare), his technique was to crowd his stage with ‘characters’. His own life-story had been plundered freely – more, perhaps, than we shall ever know, because (as in the case of Ruth Richardson recently discovering that the infant Dickens grew up almost next door to the Cleveland Street Workhouse) new biographical research is always uncovering the ways in which ‘real life’ fed into the fiction, the ways in which he hopped to and fro from either side of the footlights. But these wonderful Sketches and Episodes, sewn together haphazardly as serial novels, had lacked an underlying unity. Then in 1849, when he was thirty-seven, had come David Copperfield, a sort of spoof autobiography, which had knit together experience. There had followed three novels of overpowering greatness, Bleak House, Hard Times and Little Dorrit. As we have suggested, in Little Dorrit Dickens had revisited painful areas of his childhood experience, and his consciousness of family-membership. Micawber cannot be crushed. He bobs up like a cork whenever the waves engulf him, and in the end he is transported – one might almost say translated – to Australia where, against all probability, he becomes a successful colonial administrator. After the experience of watching his father die in the ‘slaughterhouse’ of Keppel Street, Dickens could not project his experiences in anything like so sunny a way. Dorrit is a much crueller portrait of his father than Micawber. Dorrit is selfish, manipulative, pretentious and, much of the time, odious. But unlike the uncrushable Micawber, he is defeated. Even if eventually, in obedience to the requirements of the creaking plot, he is found not to be a debtor after all, and is released in style from the Marshalsea, Mr Dorrit is a broken man. Dickens saw the debtor as Pushkin saw the little man crushed by the Bronze Horseman, the vast statue of Peter the Great against whom the ‘little man’ does not stand a chance: a figure who could never be strong enough against the system.


Dickens himself was the passionate champion of the small person against the system, both in his fiction and in his various charitable endeavours. He had ceased to be a small person. He was a man of consequence. The man who was now laid out, gasping, on the carpet of the dining room at Gad’s Hill was one of the great men of the age, his company sought out by the Queen herself, his name familiar in everyone’s mouth as a Household Word indeed.


That was not how it felt inside. His childhood self was his secret sharer, his hidden stowaway, his constant companion throughout the triumphs of his adult existence.


Mr Dorrit, when he became confused at the public dinner in Italy, began to blurt out his unmentionable past, and to speak as if he were still in the Marshalsea Prison. This is one of the most excruciating scenes in literature, and the creation of a man who, figuratively, was in constant danger of exposing his weaknesses. Hence the need, in the truly great artist, to guard his divided self, or selves. The healthy soul is integrated, at one. He has no need for subterfuge or pretence. He is Joe Gargery, able, with such devastating truthfulness, to explain to Pip why they will no longer be suitable companions in the future: ‘“Pip”, said Joe, appearing a little hurried and troubled, “there has been larks. And, dear sir, what have been betwixt us – have been.’” [GE 57]


Dickens was many personae, wore many masks and was a divided, sick soul, as far from Joe Gargery as it was possible to be. Those who lead the divided life find comfort in formalizing these divisions. Hence the relationship with Nelly. She left no record of it, or of how it felt to be his secret, though she did murmur in later life that she had ‘often’ been to Gad’s Hill, and it may be that they were together much more than has sometimes been supposed.


[image: Illustration]


There is a danger, among those who interest themselves in Dickens’s ‘secret’ or ‘private’ life, that one is doing no more than engaging in tittle-tattle. That a Victorian man in his forties took a mistress, and kept her existence a secret from the world, is surely neither here nor there.


But Dickens was more than just a Victorian man. He was one of the greatest artists who ever chose to write in the English language. And central to that art, pivotal, is the division of self. It was a divided self who created the alternative comic universe that is ‘The Dickens World’. Only a sick soul, or a divided self – however one describes it – could have created these books. Dickens the human being, like many in an unhappy relationship, looked for another person to provide him with love. Dickens the artist, a magpie beadily seizing on a trinket that caught the sunlight, needed something in his life that would formalize the division of his imaginative existence. His daughter Katey – as we shall see – looked back, horrified at the behaviour of herself and her siblings in allowing Dickens to smash up the family and send his wife into exile. He ‘didn’t give a damn about any of us’.34 This is true, but his was more than the simple, selfish old story of someone committing adultery, and more than the cliché of the bored man having a middle-aged crisis and taking up with a much younger woman, though it is obviously both those things. It is also the story of an artist whose art depended on having a divided self, depended on having a double life.


Acting, the theatre, burlesque, pantomime, they were all of vital importance to Dickens’s art, but his art was not here. It was in the novel that he soared to his great heights, in the novel that he touched millions of human hearts. In the alternative-universe autobiography David Copperfield, he offered readers what was clearly meant as a piece of his own, real autobiography, and was also in the nature of a novelist’s manifesto. The context is this. David has lost his mother’s love to her new husband, Mr Murdstone, who is cruel and unfeeling. As he felt ‘more and more shut out and alienated from my mother’ [DC 4], he retreated into reading fiction and then – hence the novel we find in our hands as we read about it – into the writing of it.


When he came to write novels, there is one aspect of Dickens’s genius that must trouble even his most ardent admirers: namely, his depiction of women, and his imaginative need to desex them, to eviscerate them sexually, emotionally, imaginatively.


The supposed reason for British Victorian novels being sex-free zones is that middle-class fathers and mothers liked to read them aloud in the bosom of their family, and it was clearly undesirable for graphic depictions of sexual love, such as you might find in Balzac, to corrupt the innocent young hearers. This might or might not have been the case, but it does not really address what for some readers is the problem of Dickens and the women. His great contemporary, Thackeray, for example, wrote his masterpiece Vanity Fair with a woman, Becky Sharp, as the most lively and beguilingly wicked central intelligence. Dickens, it could be answered, narrated half of one of his masterpieces, Bleak House, in the voice of Esther Summerson, but this only highlights what for some readers is the problem. Esther is only a half-presence on the page. Her virtues of submissiveness and forbearance are frankly tedious, and very often her ‘voice’, which is a simpering one, is mercifully replaced by Dickens’s own, when he forgets to ‘be’ Esther. As for Victorian novels not dealing with real-life women, or with sexual matters, this is simply not true. Consider the novels of George Eliot, where, for example, the disastrous marriage of Dorothea Brooke to Mr Casaubon in Middlemarch, while not being physically graphic in the manner of, say, D. H. Lawrence, is realistically analysed, as are the marriages of the other pairs in the book. Anthony Trollope, in every way a lesser novelist than George Eliot or Dickens or Thackeray, nevertheless has women who are recognizably people with sexual feelings and independence of mind.


Dickens’s novels pulsate with sexual feeling – we shall be discussing this later – but it is the feelings of the author, rather than the feelings of, say, Kate Nickleby, Dora Copperfield, Agnes Wickfield, Esther Summerson and the gallery of submissive, sexless-seeming wifelets and nymphs and half-child-brides, who tiptoe through his pages.


The generalization needs to checked. It is only in a respectable middle-class setting that the women are so wet. We do find women with profound sexual feelings in Dickens’s pages: Nancy, the prostitute in Oliver Twist; Miss Wade, the overpowering lesbian in Little Dorrit, who elopes with ‘Tattycoram’; Bella Wilfer, in Our Mutual Friend. For the most part, however, when we are aware of women as sexual beings, it is in their sense of emotional frustration – Edith Dombey, or Mrs Joe Gargery, who, one assumes, is both frustrated in her relationship with the child-like blacksmith and is undergoing the menopause. I write ‘one assumes’, but what one is less sure of – and this is the problem of Dickens, for some readers – is that we cannot be sure that Dickens himself understands these things, or, if he understood them, whether he found them even remotely sympathetic. Whereas Joe grows in the course of the book and becomes a character we truly admire, Mrs Joe remains a joke harridan, a furious pantomime dame wielding the cane with which she intends to berate her younger brother.


Katey Collins said her father did not understand women – whatever that means. The fiction is full of women, many of whom are realistically observed, sometimes with sympathy, sometimes not. What we scarcely find in the novels is either the depiction of a successful, fulfilled relationship between the sexes or, with the possible exception of the empathy between the ‘china doll’ and Mr Crisparkle in The Mystery of Edwin Drood, an entirely satisfactory relationship between a mother and a son.


This must be admitted, even by the most ardent Dickensian, as a fault in our hero. One of his finest, cruellest comic creations is Mrs Skewton in Dombey and Son, the seventy-year-old who dresses as if she is twenty-seven. ‘It was a tremendous sight to see this old woman in her finery leering and mincing at Death, and playing off her youthful tricks upon him.’ [DS 37] Dickens calls her Cleopatra, a good joke, but one that, by reminding us of the Cleopatra in Shakespeare, only recalls the absence in these novels of any woman of the depth, range and realism of the Shakespearean Egyptian queen. And where in Dickens is a Rosalind, or a Juliet, or a Hermione, or a Portia, or a Beatrice, or even, to choose a play in which Dickens himself acted, a Mistress Page and Mistress Ford? There are some memorable harridan mothers – such as Mrs Clennam – to set beside Volumnia, but they are drawn with infinitely less sympathy. And what animates them is the relationship of their male victims to the female caricature.


One thinks of this when one contemplates the wonderful gallery of Dickensian ‘characters’. In the Dickens Museum at 48 Doughty Street – the novelist’s marital home in earlier days – one can see the famous unfinished watercolour by Robert William Buss – Dickens’s Dream. It depicts Dickens in his study at Gad’s Hill, his eyes closed, a cigar in his hand, slippers on his feet, and the characters of his fiction dancing about him, not unlike the fairies in A Midsummer Night’s Dream gambolling around the head of Bottom. Buss – whose greatest distinction was fathering Frances, pioneer of female education and founding headmistress of Camden School for Girls – died before he could finish this charming, if saccharine, work. (He had, in his youth, been taken on by the publishers Chapman and Hall as a potential illustrator for The Pickwick Papers when the original illustrator committed suicide, but Buss’s work was, rightly, deemed to be unsatisfactory.) Presumably the picture was in part prompted by Dickens’s suggestive phrase, in his 1867 Preface to David Copperfield, in which he wrote of how ‘the Author feels as if he were dismissing some portion of himself into the shadowy world, when a crowd of creatures of his brain are going from him for ever’.


The Dickens’s Dream version of the novelist and his achievement is one that explains, for many, the nature of his appeal. Here they all are: Little Nell, and Mr Pickwick, and Peggotty and Oliver Twist and Fagin – Characters with a capital ‘C’, so many of them deriving, as we have acknowledged in this chapter, from the traditions of pantomime.


No one would deny that an abundance of varied characters did indeed emanate from Dickens’s fertile imagination; and that this is one of the reasons for the abiding popularity of his fiction. This also explains why so many actors have enjoyed playing the ‘characters’ and why there are so many films, plays and TV adaptations of the novels.


Dickens’s achievement, however, was so much deeper, so much more sophisticated and so much more complex than the simplistic Dickens’s Dream implies. One of the oblique tributes to him that has spoken most vividly occurred almost as a throwaway moment in a late novel by Elizabeth Bowen, Eva Trout. One of the characters, a highly intelligent retired schoolmistress, is translating a fresh French evaluation of Dickens, Le Grand Histrionique. She visits the house, now a museum, at Broadstairs, Kent, which was called Fort House, now named Bleak House. It was where much of David Copperfield was written and Bleak House gestated. Immersing herself in Dickens, his letters and his novels, Iseult asks herself, ‘What, now one came to think of it, had James, that Dickens really had not? Or if he had, what did it amount to?’


It was a conversion moment, for me, reading that scene in the Bowen novel when it was published in 1969. Still in my teens, I had supposed that Henry James, the great psychological realist, was in every way a more ‘interesting’, more sophisticated, deeper artist than Charles Dickens, even though, since my childhood, I had read and reread Dickens with obsessive rapture, beginning in a childhood of abject misery when his books, more than anything in the Bible or anything said by a living person, offered me what felt like salvation.


No writer, not even Shakespeare, can visit or inhabit every emotion, every human experience. Dickens’s novels do, however, contain so much more than a series of comic episodes and exaggerated caricatures. They are records of experience, and he would not have been able to write them had he not undergone the particular experiences that he underwent. This is an obvious thing to say, but it is worth underlining. It is not that biography, or tittle-tattle, can take the place of intelligent appreciation of the novels as they stand. But it is to say that his experience of life between 1812 and 1870 was something that, like pantomime in his essay, contributed to ‘the general enjoyment which an audience of vulnerable spectators, liable to pain and sorrow, find in this class of entertainment’.


The vast, smoky, cruel, boundlessly energetic, steel-hearted nineteenth century was Dickens’s canvas, and his subject. It was the century in which economic liberalism, global capitalism, transformed the world, leading to the enrichment of Britain beyond any historical parallel, enrichment bought at great cost by the poor of the cities. It was the century in which religion was seen by many intellectuals to be disproved by science, in which materialism triumphed over faith; and Dickens reacted to this not by asserting the old doctrines, but by insisting that the essence of Christianity was in its injunction to be kind. Cruel and complicated as Dickens was, kindliness – and its necessity – was the one value that he held dearest of all others, and it was the value that explains his enduring popularity.


What had James that Dickens, really, had not? Iseult, who asked the question in the Elizabeth Bowen novel, is a former school teacher, as I am, and it is probably the sort of question that teachers, more than other readers, like to ask. What it implies, however, is that Dickens’s ‘take’ on experience is one of the deepest and widest, which can help us, as great art always can, to make sense of our own experiences of childhood, loss, fear, love. It is the reason that when the exhausted, tiny, over-sexed, whiskery body at Gad’s Hill exhaled its last breath, the world itself felt bereft. Few deaths in the entire nineteenth century were so mourned.


They were mourning a great, a unique, artist. It is not sentimental, it is merely accurate, to say that of all the great artists, however, Dickens was most mourned by the unsophisticated and the poor, as well as by the book-buying, literate classes. He had begun the journey just before the end of the Napoleonic Wars, in the year that Moscow was besieged. He ended it in the year that Prussia conquered France and set the seal for all the subsequent horror story of European history. Personalized, pantomimic and unpretentious as Dickens’s version of the century was, he had palpably – much more obviously than any of his contemporaries – been on the same journey as the mass of Victorian men, women and children, the ones who lived on the precipice of risk: the ones who feared the workhouse and the debtors’ gaol, the ones who never owned property and whose lives were nastier, more brutal and shorter than the contemporaries of Thomas Hobbes who had first coined that phrase. The death of Dickens in 1870 took them back to the infancy of their complicated, soot-grimy, violent century. And as he lay there on the carpet at Gad’s Hill, with his sister-in-law holding his hand, the consciousness or soul of Dickens – the imaginative self whose immortality had found its place in the books, more than in a specifically religious hope for a future disembodied life – drifted back in memory and time, through the thirteen years with Nelly, back through the good and bad times of his marriage to Kate Hogarth, to his burgeoning manhood and his effervescent apprenticeship as a writer, to the core of it all, the buried childhood.
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